

Agenda

Rulemaking Advisory Committee

Workers' Compensation Division Rules,

- OAR 436-120, Vocational Assistance to Injured Workers

Type of meeting:	Rulemaking advisory committee
Date, time, & place:	Jan. 30, 2024, 1 – 4 p.m. Room F (basement) Labor & Industries Building 350 Winter Street NE, Salem, Oregon Microsoft Teams: https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_NWI1ZjBmMjgtNWZlMy00N2RILTg3MGUtZjRhNjIjZTY2NjBl%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22aa3f6932-fa7c-47b4-a0ce-a598cad161cf%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22419bb41f-34a1-4d77-8afc-abd87db857e0%22%7d Meeting ID: 241 407 092 923 Passcode: GBas48 Or call in (audio only) +1 503-446-4951 .,823437853# United States, Portland Phone Conference ID: 823 437 853#
Facilitators:	Summer Tucker and Marie Loiseau, Workers' Compensation Division
1:00 to 1:10	Welcome and introductions; meeting objectives
1:10 to 2:30	Discussion of issues – see attachment.
2:30 to 2:40	Break
2:40 to 3:45	Discussion of issues on agenda continued, and request for new issues
3:45 to 4:00	Summing up – next steps – thank you!

Attached: OAR 436-120 Issues Document

Oregon Administrative Rule Revision Chapter 436, Division 120

Issues Document
Rules Advisory Committee Meeting
January 30, 2024

Issue 1

Rule: OAR 436-120-0145(2)(a) Vocational Assistance Eligibility
OAR 436-120-0175(5) Redetermining Eligibility for Vocational Assistance
OAR 436-120-0443 Training – General
OAR 436-120-0445 Training Requirements

Issue: Stakeholders have expressed an interest in allowing some vocational assistance benefits for workers who are not authorized to work in the United States. These workers are currently ineligible for vocational assistance.

Background:

For a worker to be eligible for vocational assistance, they must meet all the conditions listed in OAR 436-120-0145(2). One of the conditions for eligibility in this rule is that the worker must be authorized to work in the United States. Even if the worker meets all the other eligibility requirements, if they are not authorized, they will not be eligible for vocational assistance.

If the worker later becomes authorized to work in the United States, they can request redetermination of their eligibility under OAR 436-120-0175(5). The worker must request redetermination within six months of receipt of the notice of ineligibility or end of eligibility, and submit evidence that they are awaiting a decision by the U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services (USCIS). The worker must provide the insurer with a copy of any decision by the USCIS within 30 days of receipt. Since the worker must request redetermination and apply for authorization to work in the United States within a six month timeframe, this may limit the number of workers who are able to access vocational assistance by requesting redetermination.

Based on ineligibility notices reported to the division, from 2013 to 2022, 3,300 claims were found ineligible for vocational assistance. Of that total, 5.79 percent (191 claims) were found ineligible based on the worker not being authorized to work in the United States.¹

ORS chapter 656 does not require workers to be authorized to work in the United States to receive vocational assistance. However, under the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986

¹ Source: Information Technology and Research Section, Department of Consumer and Business Services
Note: Some claims are found ineligible multiple times. The count of 191 claims was based on only counting one notice of ineligibility: either the most recent notice of ineligibility based on authorization status, or an earlier notice of ineligibility due to authorization status.

(IRCA), it is unlawful to recruit, hire, employ, or refer for employment a person known to be not authorized to work in the United States.

Some vocational assistance benefits directly relate to obtaining employment (e.g., employment counseling, job search skills instructions, and job placement assistance). Providing some of these benefits may conflict with the IRCA. However, other types of benefits, such as education or formal training, could potentially be provided.

Stakeholders have expressed interest in discussing whether the rule should be changed to allow providing some vocational assistance benefits to workers who are not authorized to work in the United States. For this discussion, the division invites stakeholders to provide input on what kinds of vocational benefits could be provided, or feedback on the following options. Additionally, the division invites input on whether the timeframes for requesting redetermination under OAR 436-120-0175(5) are sufficient.

For reference during discussion, the table on page 4 outlines the vocational assistance benefits available to eligible workers.

Options:

- 1) Amend OAR 436-120-0145 to add a new section that states a worker not authorized to work in the United States is eligible to receive training or direct worker purchases if the following conditions are met:
 - The worker is working towards becoming authorized to work in the United States, and
 - The worker meets all other eligibility requirements for vocational assistance.
- 2) Amend OAR 436-120-0445 and OAR 436-120-0443 to exclude the following types of benefits if a worker is not authorized to work in the United States:
 - Job placement assistance
 - On-the-job training
 - Occupational skills training
- 3) Amend OAR 436-120-0700 to include a new direct worker purchase category for expenses related to obtaining authorization to work in the United States. Expenses could include, but not be limited to, U.S. Citizen and Immigration service fees, or legal aid costs.
- 4) The same as Option 2, but include language that requires the worker to request reimbursement for the expenses.
- 5) Amend OAR 436-120-0175(5) to:
 - Increase the amount of time the worker has to request redetermination of their eligibility and submit evidence to the insurer that they are awaiting a decision by U.S. Citizen and Immigration Services.

- Increase the amount of time the worker has to submit a copy of any decision by the United States Citizenship and Immigration Services.

6) Other.

7) No change.

Fiscal Impacts, including cost of compliance for small business:

Insurers, self-insured employers, and service companies would incur increased costs if workers who are not authorized to work in the United States are eligible for vocational assistance. If these workers are eligible for a training plan only, it is estimated there will be an increase in costs for:

- Vocational assistance (\$226,000 - \$679,000 annually)
- Temporary disability paid during a training plan (\$267,000 - \$800,000 annually)

Notes on estimated costs:

- The estimates are based on a range of 10 to 30 workers per year who were found ineligible for vocational assistance due to not being authorized to work in the United States.
- Vocational assistance costs were based on the average vocational assistance costs for workers on training plans from 2020-2022, approximately \$22,618 per worker.
- Temporary disability was based on two-thirds of the state average weekly wage effective on July 1, 2023 (\$1,295.86) and the average number of weeks that temporary disability was paid for workers on training plans in 2022 (about 31 weeks).
- Under the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 (IRCA), it is unlawful to recruit, hire, employ, or refer for employment a person known to be not authorized to work in the United States. Some vocational training benefits, such as job placement services, may conflict with the IRCA. If training benefits are limited to only specific types of benefits, the actual costs of vocational assistance may be lower than these estimates.

Source: Information Technology and Research Section, Department of Consumer and Business Services

How will adoption of this rule affect racial equity in this state?

The Workers' Compensation Division does not collect data about race or ethnicity related to workplace injuries and illness in Oregon, but the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics publishes lists of occupations and numbers of Americans employed broken down by race. Black/African American and Hispanic/Latino workers are represented in some of the more dangerous occupations in higher numbers than their respective shares of the U.S. workforce. To the extent Oregon workers in these racial groups suffer more on-the-job injuries and illnesses, increased access to vocational assistance benefits may benefit these racial groups more than others. The agency does not have sufficient data needed to estimate specific effects on racial equity in Oregon, but invites public input.

Recommendations:

Vocational Assistance Benefits

<p>Direct Employment Services*</p>	<p>Includes, but is not limited to:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Employment counseling • Job search skills instructions • Job development with related return-to-work activities • Job analysis
<p>Training*</p>	<p>Includes, but is not limited to:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Training plan development • Monthly monitoring of training progress • Job placement services • Training <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ Basic education (may be offered, with or without other training components, to raise the worker’s education to a level to enable the worker to obtain suitable employment) ○ On-the-job training ○ Occupational skills training (offered through a community college, based on a predetermined curriculum, at the training employer’s location) ○ Formal training (may be offered through a vocational school licensed by an appropriate licensing body, community college, or other post-secondary educational facility that is part of a state system of higher education)
<p>Direct Worker Purchases (provided only if necessary for the worker to participate in vocational assistance or meet the requirements of a suitable job)</p>	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Tuition, fees, books, supplies for training or studies • Wage reimbursement for on-the-job training • Travel expenses for transportation, meals, and lodging • Tools and equipment • Moving expenses • Second residence allowance (for training outside a reasonable commuting distance) • Primary residence allowance (when worker must change residence for training or employment) • Medical and psychological examinations • Physical or work capacity evaluations • Living expense allowance (limited to workers involved in a vocational evaluation at least 5 hours daily for 4 or more consecutive days, and not receiving temporary disability) • Work adjustment, on-the-job evaluation, or situational assessment costs • Membership fees and occupational certifications, licenses, and related testing costs

	<ul style="list-style-type: none">• Clothing• Child or disabled adult care services• Dental work, eyeglasses, hearing aids and prosthetic devices• Union dues and fees• Vehicle rental or lease• Other purchases
--	---

*When a worker is found eligible for vocational assistance, the insurer must select one category of vocational assistance (direct employment services or training).

Issue 2

Rule: OAR 436-120-0185 Choosing a Counselor

Issue: There is no required timeframe for when an insurer must provide vocational and medical information to the counselor selected to provide vocational assistance.

Background:

To determine whether a worker is eligible for vocational assistance, OAR 436-120-0115 (6) requires that an eligibility evaluation must be completed by a vocational counselor. If the worker is found eligible, OAR 436-120-0185 requires that the insurer and worker must agree on a counselor that will provide the worker vocational assistance. The person selected may be the same counselor that conducted the eligibility evaluation, or a different one. The selected counselor is responsible for creating a vocational assistance plan based on the worker's vocational and medical information.

Currently, OAR 436-120-0115 (6)(c) requires the insurer provide "all relevant vocational and medical information" to the counselor that conducts the eligibility evaluation. However, there is no requirement for providing that information to the counselor selected to provide vocational assistance.

The division has received some complaints regarding delays in receiving the documents necessary for creating the vocational assistance plan. Since the plan must be approved before the worker can receive vocational assistance benefits, delays in creating the plan can affect how soon the worker receives vocational assistance.

The division invites stakeholder feedback on including a required timeframe in rule for providing documents to the vocational counselor that creates the vocational assistance plan.

Options:

- 1) Revise OAR 436-120-0185 to require the insurer to send the counselor selected to provide vocational assistance all relevant vocational and medical information within 14 days of when the insurer mails notice regarding the selected counselor.

436-120-0185 Choosing a Counselor

(1) Choosing a counselor.

- (a) The insurer and worker must agree on a counselor within 14 days of the worker being determined eligible for vocational assistance.
- (b) When the parties agree on a counselor, the insurer must mail the worker a NOTICE OF SELECTION OF VOCATIONAL COUNSELOR.
- (c) If the parties do not agree on a counselor, the insurer must notify the division within five days, and the director will select a counselor.

(2) Changing counselors.

- (a) If the worker or insurer requests a change in counselor, the insurer and worker must agree on a new counselor within 14 days of the request.

(b) If the parties do not agree on a new counselor, the insurer must refer the matter to the division within five days.

(c) Any time there is a change in counselor, the insurer must mail the worker a NOTICE OF CHANGE OF VOCATIONAL COUNSELOR.

(3) Providing documents to selected counselor.

The insurer must provide the vocational counselor selected under section (1) or (2) of this rule all relevant vocational and medical information within 14 days of mailing the notice under (1)(b) or (2)(c) of this rule.

2) No change.

3) Other.

Fiscal Impacts, including cost of compliance for small business:

Adding a requirement for insurers to provide medical and vocational information to the selected vocational counselor may increase costs, if it is not already an insurer's practice to do so.

Insurers may incur additional costs to collect and send vocational and medical information. The division does not have data that would allow it to estimate the extent of additional costs, but invites stakeholder input regarding costs.

How will adoption of this rule affect racial equity in this state?

Recommendations:

Issue 3

Rule: OAR 436-120-0008 (1)(g) Administrative Review and Hearings

Issue: The rule does not provide a remedy if parties to a letter of agreement do not honor the conditions of the agreement.

Background:

When a worker disputes a vocational assistance matter, they are able to request administrative review by the director under OAR 436-120-0008. In general, after an administrative review, the director issues an order that resolves the dispute. However, in some cases, the parties are able to come to a mutual agreement to resolve the issue. In these cases, the director will issue a “letter of agreement” that records what the parties agreed to.

If a party does not honor a letter of agreement, currently, the rule does not address how that issue would be resolved. ORS 656.340(16)(c) provides that an agreement is subject to reconsideration under limitations prescribed by the director. However, there is no rule that describes when or how the director would reconsider a letter of agreement.

For medical disputes, OAR 436-009 and 436-010 specify the conditions where the director can revise a letter of agreement, or reinstate administrative review. Those conditions are:

- A party fails to honor an agreement;
- The agreement was based on misrepresentation;
- Implementation of the agreement is not feasible because of unforeseen circumstances; or
- All parties request revision or reinstatement of the dispute.

The division is considering adopting similar rule language that would specify when the director would revise a vocational assistance letter of agreement, or reinstate administrative review. The division invites input from stakeholders on the following draft rule language.

Options:

- 1) Revise OAR 436-120-0008 as follows.

436-120-0008 Administrative Review and Hearings

(1) Administrative review.

(a) A worker wanting review of any vocational eligibility evaluation or vocational assistance matter must request administrative review by the director.

(b) Under ORS 656.340(11) and OAR 436-120-0185 when the worker and insurer are unable to agree on a counselor, the insurer must request administrative review by the director.

(c) Effective vocational assistance is best realized in a nonadversarial environment. The first objective of administrative review is to bring the parties to resolution through alternative dispute resolution procedures, including mediation conferences, whenever possible and appropriate. When a dispute is not resolved through mutual agreement or dismissal, the director will close the record and issue a director's review and order.

- (d) The worker's request for review must be submitted to the division no later than the 60th day after the date the worker received written notice of the insurer's action.
- (e) Issues raised by the worker where written notice was not provided may be reviewed at the director's discretion.
- (f) The worker, insurer, employer at injury, and provider must supply needed information, attend conferences and meetings, and participate in the administrative review process as required by the director.
- (A) Upon the director's request, any party to the dispute must provide available information within 14 days of the request.
- (B) The insurer must promptly schedule, pay for, and submit to the division any medical or vocational tests, consultations, or reports required by the director.
- (C) The worker, insurer, employer at injury, or provider must simultaneously provide copies of material to the other parties to the dispute when submitting material to the division.
- (D) Failure to comply with this subsection may result in the director dismissing the administrative review or deciding the issue on the basis of available information when the worker, insurer, provider, or employer at injury fails to comply without reasonable cause.
- (g) The director may issue a letter of agreement as described in (new section #) of this rule when the parties resolve a dispute within the scope of these rules.
- ~~(A) Any agreement may include an agreement on attorney fees, if any, to be paid to the worker's attorney.~~
- ~~(B) The agreement will become effective on the 10th day after the letter of agreement is issued unless the agreement specifies otherwise.~~
- ~~(C) The director may revise a letter of agreement.~~
- (h) The parties have 60 days from the date the director's review and order is issued to request a hearing under OAR 436-001-0019.
- (i) The director may on the director's own motion reconsider or withdraw any order that has not become final by operation of law.
- (j) A party may request reconsideration of a director's review and order upon an allegation of error, omission, misapplication of law, incomplete record, or the discovery of new material evidence that could not reasonably have been discovered and produced during the review.
- (A) The director may grant or deny a request for reconsideration at the director's sole discretion.
- (B) A request for reconsideration must be received by the division before the director's review and order becomes final or, if appealed, before the proposed and final order is issued.
- (C) The parties may submit new material evidence consistent with this rule and may respond to such evidence submitted by others.

(D) Parties must simultaneously notify all other interested parties of their contentions and provide them with copies of all additional information presented.

(E) A request for reconsideration does not stay the 60-day time period within which the parties may request a hearing.

(New section #) Letter of Agreement

(a) A dispute may be resolved by agreement between the parties to the dispute. The agreement must be in writing and approved by the director. The director may issue a letter of agreement instead of an administrative order.

(b) A letter of agreement will become effective on the 10th day after the date the director issues the letter of agreement, unless the agreement specifies otherwise. Once the agreement is effective, the director may revise the agreement or reinstate administrative review only under one or more of the following conditions:

(A) A party fails to honor the agreement;

(B) The agreement was based on misrepresentation;

(C) Implementation of the agreement is not feasible because of unforeseen circumstances; or

(D) All parties request revision or reinstatement of the dispute.

(c) A letter of agreement may include an agreement on attorney fees, if any, to be paid to the worker's attorney.

2) No change.

3) Other.

Fiscal Impacts, including cost of compliance for small business:

How will adoption of this rule affect racial equity in this state?

Recommendations:

Issue 4

Rule: OAR 436-120-0720 (4) Fee Schedule

Issue: The timeframe in OAR 436-120-0720 (4) for payment of vocational service bills conflicts with ORS 656.258.

Background:

The division identified that OAR 436-120-0720 (4), which requires insurers to pay for vocational assistance service bills within 30 days of receipt, is inconsistent with ORS 656.258. ORS 656.258 requires payment for vocational assistance service bills within 60 days of receipt.

Since the rule is not compliant with the timeframe stated in statute, the division intends to revise the time frame to 60 days to resolve the inconsistency between the rule and statute.

Options

1) Amend the OAR 436-120-0720 (4) as follows:

(4) The insurer must pay, within ~~60~~30 days of receipt, the provider's bill for services provided under the insurer-provider agreement. The insurer may not deny payment on the grounds the worker was not eligible for the assistance if the provider performed the services in good faith without knowledge of the ineligibility.

2) Other.

Fiscal Impacts, including cost of compliance for small business:

How will adoption of this rule affect racial equity in this state?

Recommendations:

Issue 5

Rule: OAR 436-120-0115 (9) Results of the eligibility evaluation
OAR 436-120-0177 (2) Selection of a Category of Vocational Assistance

Issue: Content requirements for vocational eligibility notices are located in two rules, OAR 436-120-0115 and OAR 436-120-0177. This may be inconvenient for stakeholders to navigate, and content requirements may be missed if the reader is not aware that requirements are located in two different rules.

Background:

The division identified that content requirements for notices of vocational eligibility are located in two rules.

OAR 436-120-0115(9)(a) lists the elements that must be included in the notice of eligibility for vocational assistance, but does not include the category of vocational assistance the insurer has selected. OAR 436-120-0177(2) requires including the category of vocational assistance the insurer has selected (direct employment services or training), and the reason for the selection in notice issued under OAR 436-120-0115(9).

To ensure these notice requirements can all be found in one location, the division proposes moving the requirement in OAR 436-120-0177 (2) to OAR 436-120-0115 (9)(a).

Options:

- 1) Move the category selection requirement from OAR 436-120-0177(2) to OAR 436-120-0115(9)(a).

(9) Results of the eligibility evaluation.

The results of the eligibility evaluation must be mailed to the worker following the requirements for the appropriate notice under subsection (a) or (b) of this section.

- (a) The NOTICE OF ELIGIBILITY FOR VOCATIONAL ASSISTANCE must:

[paragraphs A-D omitted]

(E) Explain what the worker can do if the worker disagrees with something the insurer does; ~~and~~

(F) Explain direct employment services and state the worker is not entitled to training, if the worker is entitled to direct employment services but not training; and

(G) Include the category of vocational assistance and the reason for the selection.

436-120-0177 Selection of Category of Vocational Assistance

(1) The insurer must select one of the following categories of vocational assistance before referring a worker to a counselor:

- (a) Direct employment services, if the worker has the necessary transferable skills to obtain suitable new employment.

(b) Training, if the worker needs training in order to return to employment that pays a wage significantly closer to 100 percent of the adjusted weekly wage. "Significantly closer" may vary depending on several factors, including, but not limited to: the worker's wage at injury, adaptability, skills, geographic location, limitations, and the potential for the worker's income to increase with time as the result of training.

~~(2) The insurer must notify the worker of the category selection and the reason for the selection in the NOTICE OF ELIGIBILITY FOR VOCATIONAL ASSISTANCE issued under OAR 436-120-0115(9).~~

~~(32) The insurer must reconsider the category of vocational assistance within 30 days of the insurer's knowledge of a change in circumstances including, but not limited to:~~

~~(a) A change in the worker's permanent limitations;~~

~~(b) A change in the labor market; or~~

~~(c) The category of vocational assistance proves to be inappropriate.~~

~~(34) The insurer must notify the worker within five days if the reconsideration under section (32) results in a change in the vocational assistance category.~~

2) No changes.

3) Other.

Fiscal Impacts, including cost of compliance for small business:

How will adoption of this rule affect racial equity in this state?

Recommendations:

Issue 6

Rule: OAR 436-120-0820 Renewal of Certification

Issue: The rule does not require a vocational counselor, intern, or return-to-work specialist to submit Form 1880 when renewing their certification to provide vocational assistance.

Background:

Currently, individuals who conduct vocational eligibility evaluations and provide vocational assistance to injured workers must be certified by the division. OAR 436-120-0810 specifies that to be certified, applicants must submit Form 1880. Additionally, OAR 436-120-0820 states that certified individuals must renew their certification every five years by submitting documentation to the division. However, OAR 436-120-0820 does not mention submitting Form 1880 as part of the renewal process.

Form 1880 captures the individual's contact information, credentials for certification, and the individual's attestation to the accuracy of their materials. It should be used to apply for or renew certification.

To ensure consistency in the initial certification and subsequent renewal processes, the division is considering clarifying OAR 436-120-0820 to require individuals to submit Form 1880 when they renew their certification.

Options:

- 1) Revise OAR 436-120-0820 to require submitting Form 1880 when renewing certification.

436-120-0820 Renewal of Certification

(1) Required documentation.

A certified individual must renew their certification every five years by submitting Form 1880 and the following documentation to the division no later than 30 days before the end of the certification period:

- (a) Current certification by the Commission on Rehabilitation Counselor Certification (CRCC), the Commission for Case Managers Certification (CCMC), or the Certification of Disability Management Specialists Commission (CDMSC); or
- (b) Verification of a minimum of 60 hours of continuing education units under this rule within the five years before renewal.

- 2) No change.

- 3) Other.

Fiscal Impacts, including cost of compliance for small business:

How will adoption of this rule affect racial equity in this state?

Recommendations:

Issue 7

Rule: OAR 436-120-0003(4)(b) Submitting documents or information, calculating time

Issue: The rule does not state when a document is considered submitted if it is sent electronically.

Background:

OAR 436-120-0003(4)(a) states that documents or information that must be submitted to the division may be sent by mail, physical delivery, fax, or “any other method authorized by the director.” The last option, “any other method”, could include electronic submissions, such as secure email, or using the division’s web portal.

Subsection (4)(b) of the rule provides when a document is considered submitted, depending on how the document is sent. For instance, if a document is mailed, it is considered submitted on the date it is postmarked. If a document is faxed, it must be received by 11:59 p.m. Pacific Time to be considered submitted on that date. However, the rule does not specify when a document sent electronically is considered to be submitted. The division is considering adding language to the rule to clarify this. The division is also considering moving the content regarding submitting documents to a separate rule (please see the Housekeeping section).

Options:

- 1) Revise OAR 436-120-0003(4)(b) to include electronic submissions.
 - (a) Documents or information required under these rules to be submitted to the division may be submitted in any of the following ways:
 - (A) Mailed to the division’s mailing address with sufficient postage and placed in the custody of the U.S. Postal Service;
 - (B) Physical delivery to the division’s Salem office;
 - (C) Faxed, if the document transmitted indicates it has been delivered by fax, is sent to the correct fax number, and indicates the date it was sent; or
 - (D) Any other method authorized by the director.
 - (b) Timeliness of any document required by these rules to be submitted to the division is determined as follows:
 - (A) If a document is mailed, it will be considered submitted on the date it is postmarked.
 - (B) If a document is faxed or submitted electronically, it must be received by 11:59 p.m. Pacific Time to be considered submitted on that date. The date and time of receipt for electronic filings is determined under ORS 84.043.
 - (C) If a document is delivered, it must be delivered during regular business hours and marked as received to be considered submitted on that date.
 - (c) Time periods allowed under these rules are calculated in calendar days. The first day is not included. The last day is included unless it is a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday.

Rulemaking advisory committee meeting
Chapter 436, Division 120

In that case, the period runs until the end of the next day that is not a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday. Legal holidays are those listed in ORS 187.010 and 187.020.

- 2) No change.
- 3) Other

**Fiscal Impacts, including cost of compliance for small business:
How will adoption of this rule affect racial equity in this state?
Recommendations:**

Issue 8

Rule: OAR 436-120-0003(2)(b) Applicability of rules

Issue: The rule contains applicability language related to administrative reviews that is no longer necessary.

Background:

Effective Aug. 1, 2018, based on *Chu v. SAIF Corporation* [290 Or App 194 \(2018\)](#), the division revised rules related to calculation of the weekly wage in OAR 436-120-0147. Additionally, OAR 436-120-0003(2)(b) was revised to specify that if an insurer's eligibility decision involved the weekly wage, the director's decision in an administrative review would be based on the rules in effect on the date of the director's order. This language ensured a decision of the director in an administrative review made on or after Aug. 1, 2018 would be based on the revised rules, even if an insurer's eligibility decision was issued before the 2018 rule revisions.

However, this applicability language is no longer necessary. Since administrative review can only be requested within 60 days of the insurer's eligibility decision, there should no longer be a need to specify that the revised rules will be applied in an administrative review.

Options:

- 1) Amend OAR 436-120-0003(2)(b) as follows:

Except as outlined below, the director's decisions under OAR 436-120-0008 regarding eligibility will be based on the rules in effect on the date the insurer issued the notice. ~~If an eligibility decision involves the weekly wage under OAR 436-120-0147(3)(b)(B), the director's decisions under OAR 436-120-0008 regarding eligibility will rely on OAR 436-120-0147(3)(b)(B) in effect on the date of the director's order.~~ The director's decisions regarding the nature and extent of assistance will be based on the rules in effect at the time the assistance was provided. If the director orders future assistance, such assistance must be provided in accordance with the rules in effect at the time assistance is provided.

- 2) No changes.
- 3) Other.

Fiscal Impacts, including cost of compliance for small business:

How will adoption of this rule affect racial equity in this state?

Recommendations:

Issue 9

Rule: OAR 436-120-0710(10) Living expense allowance
OAR 436-120-0410(3) On-the-job evaluation

Issue: Workers who are in a vocational evaluation may receive a living expense allowance if they are in the evaluation for five hours daily, for four consecutive days. However, some workers are excluded from receiving this benefit if they are in an evaluation on a different schedule.

Background:

When a worker is eligible for a vocational assistance training plan, a vocational counselor must determine the worker's vocational goals. Under OAR 436-120-0410(3), one of the methods for determining a vocational goal is completing an on-the-job evaluation. An on-the-job evaluation evaluates a worker's work traits, aptitudes, limitations, potentials, and habits in an actual job environment. Additionally, under subsection (3)(b) of the rule, the evaluation should normally be no less than five hours daily for four consecutive days, and should normally last no longer than 30 days.

Under OAR 436-120-0710, the insurer must provide direct worker purchases if necessary for the worker to participate in vocational assistance or to meet the requirements of a suitable job. Section (10) of the rule specifies that a category of direct worker purchases is a living expense allowance. This allowance provides assistance to workers who are involved in a vocational evaluation, which could include an on-the-job evaluation. The allowance payment is based on the worker's temporary total disability rate.

Consistent with OAR 436-120-0410(3)(b), OAR 436-120-0710(10) specifies that the allowance is limited to workers involved in a vocational evaluation at least five hours daily for four or more consecutive days. Since the rule limits the allowance to workers on a specific schedule, some workers are excluded from receiving the allowance, even if the total hours in evaluation are the same. For example, a worker in evaluation for 20 hours in a week over nonconsecutive days, or a worker in evaluation for 20 hours in three days, would not be eligible for the allowance.

A stakeholder submitted the following recommendations regarding the living expense allowance:

- That the criteria for living expenses should provide for prorated living expenses for workers who work less.
- Eligibility for the living expense allowance should be evaluated based on total hours a week regardless of shift length or scheduled workdays.

These recommendations would broaden the rule to include workers that are currently not eligible for the living expense allowance during a vocational evaluation.

The division invites input on the stakeholder recommendations, and the options included below.

Options:

- 1) Amend OAR 436-120-0710 to state the allowance will be provided to workers who are in an evaluation for at least 20 hours in one week.

- 2) Amend OAR 436-120-0710 to allow for a prorated allowance to workers who are in evaluation for less than 20 hours.
- 3) Amend OAR 436-120-0410 to provide that an on-the-job evaluation should be for no less than 20 hours in one week.
- 4) No changes.
- 5) Other.

**Fiscal Impacts, including cost of compliance for small business:
How will adoption of this rule affect racial equity in this state?
Recommendations:**

Issue 10

Rule: OAR 436-120-0710(10) Living expense allowance

Issue: The language regarding the amount to be paid for the living expense allowance is unclear.

Background:

Under OAR 436-120-0710, the insurer must provide direct worker purchases if necessary for the worker to participate in vocational assistance or to meet the requirements of a suitable job. Section (10) of the rule specifies that a category of direct worker purchases is a living expense allowance. This allowance provides assistance to workers who are involved in a vocational evaluation, and are not receiving temporary disability payments.

The rule states “Payment must be based on the worker’s temporary total disability rate if the worker’s claim were reopened.”

The intent of the rule is that the worker should receive a living expense amount that is equivalent to the worker receiving temporary total disability (TTD) payments. However, the division identified the language in the rule may be unclear. The current language may imply there is an additional calculation to determine the amount of the living expense allowance. To ensure the rule is clear, the division is considering clarifying the rule regarding the amount of the allowance.

Options:

- 1) Amend OAR 436-120-0710(10) to state that the amount of the allowance is equivalent to payment of temporary total disability for the duration of the evaluation.
- 2) Other.
- 3) No change.

Fiscal Impacts, including cost of compliance for small business:

How will adoption of this rule affect racial equity in this state?

Recommendations:

Issue 11

Rule: OAR 436-120-0710(6) Second residence allowance
OAR 436-120-0710(17) Vehicle rental or lease

Issue: The dollar amounts allowed for certain direct worker purchases may be insufficient due to inflation.

Background:

Under OAR 436-120-0710, the insurer must provide direct worker purchases if necessary for the worker to participate in vocational assistance or to meet the requirements of a suitable job. The categories of direct worker purchases are listed in sections (1) – (18) of the rule.

Under section (6) of the rule, a second residence allowance is provided to enable the worker to participate in training outside reasonable commuting distance. The allowance must equal the rental expense reasonably necessary, plus not more than \$200 a month toward all other expenses of the second residence, excluding refundable deposits. This maximum for other expenses of a second residence was established in 1995.

Under section (17) of the rule, payment for a vehicle rental or lease is required when there is no reasonable alternative enabling the worker to participate in vocational assistance or accept an available job. The payment is limited to a maximum of \$1,000. This maximum for vehicle rental or lease was established in 1988.

Under section (18) of the rule, payment for other purchases necessary for participation in vocational assistance is limited to \$1,000. This maximum was established in 1995.

A stakeholder has recommended evaluating the limits towards the expenses in sections (6) and (17) for an increase, based on current market rates.

According to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics CPI inflation calculator:

- \$200 in 1995 would be approximately \$408 in buying power in December 2023.
- \$1,000 in 1995 would be approximately \$2,041 in buying power in December 2023
- \$1,000 in 1988 would be approximately \$2,651 in buying power in December 2023.

Since inflation has reduced the value of the maximum amounts established in OAR 436-120-0710(6), (17) and (18), it appears that an increase would be appropriate. The division seeks input from stakeholders on increasing the maximum amounts for these purchase categories.

Options:

- 1) Amend OAR 436-120-0710(6), (17), and (18) to increase the dollar amount of the maximums for those sections, based on inflation as calculated by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics.
- 2) No changes.

3) Other.

**Fiscal Impacts, including cost of compliance for small business:
How will adoption of this rule affect racial equity in this state?
Recommendations:**

Issue 12

Rule: OAR 436-120-0147(2)(d) and (e) Definitions
OAR 436-120-0147(3)(b)(B) Determining weekly wage

Issue: The rule does not allow including volunteer work when calculating the adjusted weekly wage. However, some volunteers are covered by workers' compensation and are potentially eligible for vocational assistance. The adjusted weekly wage is needed to determine the volunteer's eligibility for vocational assistance, but the rule does not address how to calculate an adjusted weekly wage for volunteers.

Background:

Under ORS 656.027, all workers are considered "subject workers" that are covered by Oregon workers' compensation law, unless they fall into a specific exemption. Typically, a volunteer is not considered a subject worker. However, under ORS 656.031 and ORS 656.039, an employer may elect to provide workers' compensation coverage to a volunteer, making the volunteer a subject worker. When covered by workers' compensation, volunteers may receive workers' compensation benefits, including vocational assistance.

To determine if a worker is eligible for vocational assistance, insurers must complete a vocational eligibility evaluation. The evaluation includes determining if the worker can return to a suitable job that pays a wage that is at least 80 percent of the worker's adjusted weekly wage.

Under OAR 436-120-0147, the adjusted weekly wage is calculated by determining the worker's weekly wage, and then adjusting it based on the percentage increase or decrease since the date of injury or aggravation.

The rule specifies how to determine the worker's weekly wage in section (3) of the rule. The method varies depending on whether the worker's regular employment was the "job at injury", "job at aggravation", or if the worker had more than one job. For the purpose of the rule, the terms job at injury and job at aggravation are defined as follows:

Job at injury

"...the job on which the worker originally sustained the compensable injury. For an occupational disease, the job at injury is the job the worker held at the time there is medical verification that the worker is unable to work because of the disability caused by the occupational disease. Volunteer work is not a job for purposes of this subsection.

Job at aggravation

“...means the job or jobs the worker held on the date of the aggravation claim or, for a worker not employed at the time of aggravation, the last job or concurrent jobs held before the aggravation. The job does not need to be subject employment. Volunteer work is not a job for purposes of this subsection.

In both definitions, it is stated that volunteer work is not a job. A similar statement is included in (3)(b)(B) of the rule, which describes one of the methods for calculating the weekly wage.

However, if the worker was injured at a volunteer job, and they are considered a subject worker under ORS 656.031 or ORS 656.039, the job at injury or aggravation could be a volunteer job. The rule does not address how to calculate the adjusted weekly wage in these cases.

If the rule is not clarified, there may be confusion about how to calculate the adjusted weekly wage when a volunteer is a subject worker. The division seeks input from stakeholders on the following options for clarifying the rule.

Options:

- 1) Amend OAR 436-120-0147 to state that volunteer work is only considered a job if it was the job at injury, and the employer at injury elected to have the volunteer considered a subject worker under ORS Chapter 656.
- 2) Amend OAR 436-120-0147 to state that the wage for a volunteer job is based on the assumed wage used to determine the employer’s premium.
- 3) No changes.
- 4) Other.

**Fiscal Impacts, including cost of compliance for small business:
How will adoption of this rule affect racial equity in this state?
Recommendations:**

Issue 13

Rule: OAR 436-120-0112(2), 436-120-0115(8), 436-120-0115(9)(a)(B), 436-120-0115(9)(a)(C), 436-120-0117(2)

Issue: The prescribed notice wording in these rules is not easily understood by workers.

Background:

In March 2022, the Workers' Compensation Division invited interested parties to an advisory committee that identified and discussed opportunities to simplify and streamline notices distributed to workers and employers. Committee members advised that revisions of the content and format of notice language that is prescribed by rule could make the notices easier to understand.

Currently, OAR chapter 436 prescribes language for 30 different notices. Many of these notices include information on the worker's rights, processes for appeals, and contact information for questions or assistance. When a rule requires that notices to workers or employers include specific wording, it is critically important that the text helps readers understand their rights and responsibilities. Failure to meet a deadline, for example, can result in suspension or termination of a worker's benefits, or loss of appeal rights.

The division drafted revised wording for review by the rulemaking advisory committee. The intent is to simplify and clarify the prescribed wording without changing the meaning.

Current wording and revised wording are presented below. These paragraphs are available with marked edits in the [appendix](#).

OAR 436-120-0012(2)(f)

Current, Grade 15:

If you disagree with this decision, you should contact [insert the person's name and the insurer name] within five days of receiving this letter to discuss your concerns. If you are still dissatisfied, you must contact the Workers' Compensation Division within 60 days of receiving this letter or you will lose your right to appeal this decision. A consultant with the division can talk with you about the disagreement and, if necessary, will review your appeal. The address and telephone number of the division are: Employment Services Team,

Draft, revised, Grade 6

If you disagree with this decision, you should contact [insert the claims examiner's name and the insurer name] within five days of receiving this letter to discuss your concerns.

If you are still dissatisfied:

- Contact the Workers' Compensation Division within 60 days of receiving this letter. After 60 days you will lose your right to appeal this decision.**

Workers' Compensation Division, P.O. Box 14480, Salem, Oregon 97309-0405; 1-800-452-0288.

- A consultant with the division can talk with you about the disagreement and review your appeal, if necessary.

- To contact the division:

**Workers' Compensation Division
Employment Services Team
350 Winter Street NE
PO Box 14480
Salem OR 97309-0405
800-452-0288 (toll free)**

OAR 436-120-0115(8)

Current, Grade 14:

If you have questions about the vocational assistance process, contact [use appropriate reference to the insurer]. If you still have questions contact the Workers' Compensation Division's toll free number 1-800-452-0288.

Draft, revised, Grade 9

If you have questions about vocational assistance, contact:

**[Insurer name]
[Insurer contact person]
[Insurer address]
[Insurer phone number]**

If you still have questions, call:

**Workers' Compensation Division
800-452-0288 (toll free)**

OAR 436-120-0115(9)(a)(B)

Current, Grade 15:

You have the right to request a return-to-work plan conference if the insurer does not approve a return-to-work plan within 90 days of determining you are entitled to a training plan, or within 45 days of determining you are entitled to a direct employment plan. The purpose of the conference will be to identify and remove all obstacles to return-to-work plan completion and approval. The insurer, the worker, the counselor, and any other parties involved in the return-to-work process must attend the

Draft, revised, Grade 9

You have the right to request a return-to-work plan conference if the insurer does not approve a return-to-work plan:

- Within 90 days of determining you are entitled to a training plan, or
- Within 45 days of determining you are entitled to a direct employment plan.

Conference purpose: Identify and remove obstacles to return-to-work plan completion and approval.

conference. The insurer or the worker may request a conference with the division if other delays in the vocational assistance process occur. Your request for this conference should be directed to the Employment Services Team of the Workers' Compensation Division. The address and telephone number of the division are: Employment Services Team, Workers' Compensation Division, P.O. Box 14480, Salem, Oregon 97309-0405; 1-800-452-0288.

Conference attendance: The insurer, the worker, the counselor, and others involved in the return-to-work process must attend.

Other conferences: The insurer or the worker may request a conference with the Workers' Compensation Division about other delays in vocational assistance.

To request a conference, write or call:

**Workers' Compensation Division
Employment Services Team
PO Box 14480
Salem OR 97309-0405
800-452-0288 (toll free)**

OAR 436-120-0115(9)(a)(C)(iii)

Current, Grade 14:

If you have questions about the vocational counselor selection process, contact [use appropriate reference to the insurer]. If you still have questions, call the Workers' Compensation Division at 1-800-452-0288.

Draft, revised, Grade 9

If you have questions about the process for selecting a vocational counselor, contact:

**[Insurer name]
[Insurer contact person]
[Insurer address]
[Insurer phone number]**

If you still have questions, call:

**Workers' Compensation Division
800-452-0288 (toll free)**

OAR 436-120-0117(2)(c)(C)

Current, Grade 16:

If you have questions about the deferral of the process for determining your eligibility for vocational assistance, contact [use appropriate reference to the insurer]. If you still have questions contact the Workers' Compensation Division's toll free number 1-800-452-0288.

Draft, revised, Grade 8

If you have questions about this deferral, contact:

**[Insurer name]
[Insurer contact person]
[Insurer address]
[Insurer phone number]**

If you still have questions, call:

**Workers' Compensation Division
800-452-0288 (toll free)**

Options:

- 1) Revise notices (with additional edits based on advisory committee input)
- 2) Do not revise notices
- 3) Other

Fiscal Impacts, including cost of compliance for small business:

Insurers and self-insured employers may incur some near-term costs to revise letters and associated computer programs and templates. The agency does not have data that would allow projection of overall costs, but invites input from claims processors.

How will adoption of this rule affect racial equity in Oregon?

The Workers' Compensation Division does not collect data about race or ethnicity related to workplace injuries and illness in Oregon, but the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics publishes [lists of occupations and numbers of Americans employed broken down by race](#). Black/African American and Hispanic/Latino workers are represented in some of the more dangerous occupations in higher numbers than their respective shares of the U.S. workforce. To the extent Oregon workers in these racial groups suffer more on-the-job injuries and illnesses, streamlining of communications may benefit these racial groups more than others. The agency does not have sufficient data needed to estimate specific effects on racial equity in Oregon, but invites public input.

Recommendations:

Housekeeping issues

OAR 436-120-0003

Changing the title of the rule from “General Provisions” to “Purpose and Applicability of these Rules.”

Moving provisions regarding submitting documents and availability of forms to a separate rule.

OAR 436-120-0005

Clarifying that unless a term is defined in Division 120 or the context otherwise requires, the definitions of ORS chapter 656 are incorporated by reference.

OAR 436-120-0005(3)

Updating the definition of the term “Director.”

OAR 436-120-0005(8) and (15), OAR 436-120-0175, OAR 436-120-0445(2)(c)(J)

Changing instances of “a worker” to “the worker”, or “the worker” to “a worker.”

OAR 436-120-0005 (14) and OAR 436-120-0443(12)

Updating the references to “approved training plan” to “authorized training plan.”

OAR 436-120-0008(4)

Updating the reference to the “Hearings Division” to “Workers’ Compensation Board.”

OAR 436-120-0115(9)(a)(C)(i)

Correcting the rule to refer to “list of counselors” instead of a “list of providers.”

OAR 436-120-0165(1)(c)(A)

Revising the rule to change the reference to “worksite modifications” to be singular, rather than plural.

OAR 436-120-0443(16)

Replacing the term “job placement assistance” with “direct employment services.”

OAR 436-120-0840(2)(h)

Updating the rule to remove reference to “policies, guidelines, or procedures issued by the director.”

Appendix

Revised mandatory notice wording with marked edits

OAR 436-120-0012(2)(f)

If you disagree with this decision, you should contact [insert the ~~person's~~ claims examiner's name and the insurer name] within five days of receiving this letter to discuss your concerns.

If you are still dissatisfied, ~~you must e~~

- Contact the Workers' Compensation Division within 60 days of receiving this letter. ~~After 60 days or~~ you will lose your right to appeal this decision.
- A consultant with the division can talk with you about the disagreement and, ~~if necessary, will~~ review your appeal, if necessary. ~~The address and telephone number of the division are~~
- To contact the division:

~~Employment Services Team,~~ Workers' Compensation Division
Employment Services Team
350 Winter Street NE
P.O. Box 14480,
Salem, Oregon OR 97309-0405;
Phone 1-800-452-0288 (toll free).²²

OAR 436-120-0115(8)(f)

~~"If you have questions about the vocational assistance process, contact: [use appropriate reference to the insurer]."~~

[Insurer name]
[Insurer contact person]
[Insurer address]
[Insurer phone number]

If you still have questions, ~~contact the~~ call:

Workers' Compensation Division's ~~toll-free number~~
1-800-452-0288 (toll free).²²

OAR 436-120-0115(9)(a)(B)

“You have the right to request a return-to-work plan conference if the insurer does not approve a return-to-work plan:

- **Within 90 days of determining you are entitled to a training plan, or**
- **Within 45 days of determining you are entitled to a direct employment plan.**

Conference purpose: ~~The purpose of the conference will be to i~~Identify and remove **all obstacles to return-to-work plan completion and approval.**

Conference attendance: The insurer, the worker, the counselor, and **any others ~~parties~~ involved in the return-to-work process must attend ~~the conference~~.**

Other conferences: The insurer or the worker may request a conference with the Workers’ Compensation Division ~~if~~about** other delays in ~~the~~ vocational assistance ~~process occur~~.**

Your To request ~~for this~~a conference, write or call: ~~should be directed to the~~

Workers’ Compensation Division

~~Employment Services Team of the Workers’ Compensation Division. The address and telephone number of the division are: Employment Services Team, Workers’ Compensation Division,~~

~~P.O. Box 14480~~

~~, Salem, ORregon 97309-0405;~~

~~1-800-452-0288 (toll free).”~~

OAR 436-120-0115(9)(a)(C)(iii)

“If you have questions about the process for selecting a vocational counselor ~~selection process~~, contact: ~~[use appropriate reference to the insurer]~~.

[Insurer name]

[Insurer contact person]

[Insurer address]

[Insurer phone number]

If you still have questions, call: ~~the~~

~~Workers’ Compensation Division at 1-~~

~~800-452-0288 (toll free).”~~

OAR 436-120-0117(2)(c)(C)

“If you have questions about the is deferral ~~of the process for determining your eligibility for vocational assistance~~, contact:

[Insurer name]

[Insurer contact person]

[Insurer address]

[Insurer phone number]

~~{use appropriate reference to the insurer}. If you still have questions, contact the call:~~

~~Workers' Compensation Division's toll-free number~~

~~1-800-452-0288 (toll free)."~~